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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 
American Federation of Aviculture, Inc. 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

v. 
 
United States Fish and Wildlife Service; 
United States Department of the Interior; 
Ryan Zinke, in his official capacity as 
Secretary of the Interior; Greg Sheehan, in 
his official capacity as Acting Director of the 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, 
 

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
)  
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
Civil Action 
No._______________________ 
 

PLAINTIFF’S COMPLAINT FOR 
DECLARATORY JUDGMENT 

AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
 
 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This suit arises under the Endangered Species Act (ESA), 16 U.S.C. § 1540 (g).  It seeks 

to hold Defendants—United States officials and agencies—accountable for their failure to make a 

finding on a petition seeking the reclassification of the golden conure (Guaruba guarouba), also 

known as the golden parakeet (Aratinga guarouba), within 12 months of the determination that the 

Petition may be warranted, as required by federal law. 

2. In August 2014, the American Federation of Aviculture, Inc. (AFA) duly submitted a 

Petition under 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A) requesting that Defendants delist the golden conure, or 

in the alternative, downlist it to threatened.  On April 10, 2015, the Defendants issued a belated 

90-day finding, stating that the petition presents substantial scientific or commercial information 

indicating that the reclassification may be warranted. See 80 Fed. Reg. 19,259, 19,261 (2015). 

Pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(B) of the ESA, the Service then had 12 months to publish one 

of three findings:  (1) the petitioned action is not warranted; (2) the petitioned action is warranted, 

along with a proposed regulation; or (3) the petitioned action is warranted, but immediate 
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promulgation of a final regulation is precluded by pending proposals.  Although it has been 27 

months since the Defendants published the determination that the AFA’s petition may be 

warranted, the Defendants still have not issued a 12-month finding.  Therefore, Defendants 

violated the ESA, and unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed required agency action in 

violation of the APA.  See 5 U.S.C. § 706(1). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 702 (judicial review of agency action); 

16 U.S.C. § 1540(c) (actions arising under the ESA); 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g) (citizen suits arising 

under the ESA); 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (civil action arising under the laws of the United States); and 

28 U.S.C. § 2401(a) (6-year statute of limitations for civil suits against the United States).  

28 U.S.C. § 1391(e)(1) (action may be brought where defendant resides). 

4. In August 2014, Plaintiff filed a Petition asking Defendants to downlist the golden 

conure.  The Petition is called PETITION OF THE AMERICAN FEDERATION OF 

AVICULTURE AND AFFILIATES TO DELIST THE GOLDEN CONURE FROM THE LIST 

OF ENDANGERED SPECIES UNDER THE ENDANAGERED SPECIES ACT.  The Petition is 

attached hereto as Exhibit 1, and is incorporated by reference.  To date, Defendants have failed to 

make a statutorily required 12-month finding on the Petition. Instead, Defendants say that making 

the finding is a “priority” that they hope to fulfill by the end of September 2018, which would be 

more than 29 months past the 12-month deadline imposed by the ESA. See Defendant’s letter dated 

June 6, 2017, attached hereto as Exhibit 2; 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(B). 

5.  By April 18, 2017, Plaintiff provided Defendants with a 60-Day Notice of Intent To 

Bring a Citizen Suit Under the Endangered Species Act pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g), as 
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required by the ESA.  Plaintiff has attached a copy of this notice as Exhibit 3 and incorporates it 

by reference.  

6. Venue in this district is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e)(1)(A) because the Department 

of the Interior resides in the District of Columbia. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff 

7. Plaintiff, the American Federation of Aviculture (AFA), a nonprofit national 

organization incorporated in California, was established in 1974 to represent all aspects of 

aviculture and to educate the public about keeping and breeding birds in captivity.  AFA supports 

public and private programs that support conservation of birds in the wild as well as humane 

husbandry, care, and breeding of birds.  AFA also represents the interests of more than 10,000 

members, including bird breeders, pet bird owners, veterinarians, pet store owners, bird product 

manufacturers, and many other people who are interested in the future of birds and aviculture. 

AFA members own and maintain many hundreds of separate species of exotic birds, including 

golden conures.  Many AFA members are experts with long-term, hands-on experience with 

various species of birds.  Aviculturists serve an important role in the preservation of species, and 

in some cases are the only hope for the long term survival of species at risk for extinction in their 

native lands.   

8. Multiple AFA members breed golden conures, but are inhibited by ESA regulations. For 

example, AFA member Nancy Speed would breed more golden conures, if not for ESA regulations 

that limit the trade of these birds across state lines. 
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Defendants 

9. Defendant Ryan Zinke is sued in his official capacity as Secretary of the United States 

Department of the Interior (Secretary).  Secretary Zinke’s official duties include ensuring timely 

responses to petitions filed under 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A). 

10. Defendant Greg Sheehan is sued in his official capacity as Acting Director of the 

United States Fish and Wildlife Service (Director).  The Secretary delegates ESA authority to the 

Director, who is responsible for responding to petitions filed under 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A). 

11. Defendant United States Department of the Interior is an agency of the United States 

that administers and implements the ESA, including responding to petitions filed under 16 U.S.C. 

§ 1533(b)(3)(A). 

12.  Defendant United States Fish and Wildlife Service is an agency within the Interior 

Department which has the delegated responsibilities of administering and implementing the ESA, 

including responding to petitions filed under 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A). 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

13.   The ESA authorizes Defendants to list species as either endangered or threatened due 

to the existence of any of several factors. 16 U.S.C. § 1533(a)(1)(A)-(E).  Those factors are: 

(A) The present or threatened destruction, modification, or curtailment of its habitat or 
range; 

(B) overutilization for commercial, recreational, scientific, or educational purposes; 

(C) disease or predation; 

(D)  the inadequacy of existing regulatory mechanisms; or 

(E)  other natural or manmade factors affecting its continued existence.  Id. 
 

14. The ESA requires Defendants to make listing determinations “solely on the basis of 

the best scientific and commercial data available.”  16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(1)(A). 
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15. The ESA also requires Defendants to conduct status reviews, at least once every five 

years, of all listed species, to determine whether any species should be reclassified (i.e., removed 

from the list (delisted), changed in status from an endangered species to a threatened species 

(downlisted), or changed in status from a threatened species to an endangered species (uplisted)). 

16 U.S.C. § 1533(c)(2)(A)-(B). 

16. The ESA authorizes interested persons to petition Defendants to reclassify listed 

species. 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A).  

17. Within 90 days of receiving a petition to reclassify a species, Defendants are required 

to “make a finding as to whether the petition presents substantial scientific or commercial 

information indicating that the petitioned action may be warranted.”  16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A). 

18. Once Defendants publish a determination that a petition presents substantial scientific 

or commercial information indicating that the reclassification may be warranted under 16 U.S.C. 

§ 1533(b)(3)(A), Defendants must “promptly commence a review of the status of the species 

concerned.”  Id.  Defendants then have 12 months to make and publish in the Federal Register a 

finding that either the petitioned action is not warranted or it is warranted.  16 U.S.C.  

§ 1533(b)(3)(B).  If the petitioned action is warranted, the Defendants must either publish a 

proposed rule implementing the petitioned action, or it must publish a notice that timely 

promulgation of a rule is precluded by pending proposals to determine whether any species is 

endangered or threatened.  16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(B)(ii)-(iii). 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

19. The golden conure, including its subspecies, is listed as an endangered species by 

Defendants. See 41 Fed. Reg. 24,062, 24,066 (1976).   
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20. Under ESA regulations, U.S. breeders and other aviculturists must first get a permit 

to transport golden conures across state lines.  50 C.F.R. § 17.21.  Breeders can only sell golden 

conures to other permit holders to enhance the propagation or survival of the species.  See id.  

21. The Defendants have never conducted a status review of the golden conure.  

22. On or around August 20, 2014, Defendants received Plaintiff’s Petition requesting that 

Defendants delist the golden conure, or alternatively downlist from endangered to threatened 

status, and exempt U.S. breeders and other aviculturists from ESA permit requirements for 

interstate trade of the bird.  

23. The AFA’s petition relied partly on research cited by the International Union for 

Conservation of Nature (IUCN) that shows scholarly estimates of the bird’s population have grown 

from 1,000-2,500 to 10,000-20,000 birds today.  See Exhibit 1. 

24. On April 10, 2015, Defendants published a 90-day finding that the Plaintiff’s Petition 

presents substantial scientific or commercial information indicating that the reclassification may 

be warranted, pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A). 

25. Defendants did not make the required 12-month finding on Plaintiff’s Petition by April 

10, 2016, and have still not done so 15 months later.  Therefore, Defendants violated the ESA, and 

unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed required agency action in violation of the APA.  See 

5 U.S.C. § 706(1); 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(B). 

ALLEGATIONS SUPPORTING DECLARATORY RELIEF 

26. Plaintiff re-alleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 25 as though 

fully set forth herein. 
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27. An actual and substantial controversy exists between Plaintiff and Defendants over 

the Defendants’ duty to comply with the ESA and the APA to make a 12-month finding on 

Plaintiff’s Petition.  16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(B). 

28. This case is justiciable because Defendants have failed to timely comply with their 

nondiscretionary duty to make a 12-month finding on Plaintiff’s Petition, as required by the ESA.  

16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(B). 

29. Declaratory relief will clarify the rights and obligations of the parties and is, 

therefore, appropriate to resolve this controversy. 

ALLEGATIONS SUPPORTING INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

30. Plaintiff re-alleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 25 as though 

fully set forth herein. 

31. Plaintiff has been injured by Defendants’ failure to comply with the ESA and the 

APA and issue the required 12-month finding on Plaintiff’s Petition.  Plaintiff will be irreparably 

harmed if an injunction does not issue enjoining the Defendants from continuing to evade their 

duty to make a 12-month finding. 

32. Plaintiff has no plain, speedy, or adequate remedy at law. 

33. Plaintiff’s claims for relief are ripe. 

34. If not enjoined by this Court, Plaintiff alleges on information and belief that 

Defendants will continue to violate the law that requires them to issue a 12-month finding for 

Plaintiff’s Petition. 

35. Accordingly, injunctive relief is appropriate. 
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Violation of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b),  

Failure To Make a Timely Finding 
on a Petition To Reclassify a Species) 

 
36. Plaintiff re-alleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through 35 as though 

fully set forth herein. 

37.   The ESA requires Defendants, “[w]ithin 12 months after receiving a petition that is 

found . . . to present substantial information indicating that the petitioned action may be warranted” 

and then Defendants must make and publish one of the following findings in the Federal Register:  

(i) The petitioned action is not warranted; (ii) the petitioned action is warranted and a proposed 

regulation implementing the action; or (iii) the petitioned action is warranted, but cannot be 

immediately implemented due to other pending proposals. 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(B). 

38.   Defendants made a belated 90-day finding on Plaintiff’s Petition on April 10, 2015.  

See 80 Fed. Reg. 19,259, 19,261.  But they still have not issued a 12-month finding as required by 

the ESA.  16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(B). 

39.   Defendants’ failure to make a 12-month finding on Plaintiff’s Petition in the manner 

required by 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(B) violates the ESA and is unlawful. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Violation of APA, 5 U.S.C. § 706(1),  

Unlawfully Withholding or Unreasonably Delaying Agency Action) 
 

40. Plaintiff re-alleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through 35 as though 

fully set forth herein. 

41. The ESA requires Defendants, “[w]ithin 12 months after receiving a petition that is 

found . . . to present substantial information indicating that the petitioned action may be warranted” 

and then Defendants must make and publish one of the following findings in the Federal Register:  

(i) The petitioned action is not warranted; (ii) the petitioned action is warranted and a proposed 
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regulation implementing the action; or (iii) the petitioned action is warranted, but cannot be 

immediately implemented due to other pending proposals. 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(B). 

42.   Defendants made a 90-day finding on Plaintiff’s Petition on April 10, 2015.  See 80 

Fed. Reg. 19,259, 19,261.  But they still have not issued a 12-month finding as required by the 

ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(B). 

43.   Defendants’ failure to make a 12-month finding on Plaintiff’s Petition constitutes 

agency action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed in violation of 5 U.S.C. § 706(1). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment from this Court as follows: 

1.  A declaratory judgment under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201(a) and 2202 determining and declaring 

that Defendants’ failure to comply with their nondiscretionary duty to make a 12-month finding 

on Plaintiff’s Petition is a violation of the ESA; 

2.  A declaratory judgment under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201(a) and 2202 that Defendants’ failure 

to comply with their nondiscretionary duty to make a 12-month finding on Plaintiff’s Petition 

constitutes agency action unlawfully withheld in violation of the APA; 

3.  A mandatory injunction compelling Defendants to make a 12-month finding on 

Plaintiff’s Petition by a date certain; 

4.  An award to Plaintiff of reasonable attorney fees and expert fees in bringing and 

maintaining this action pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(4); 

5.  An award to Plaintiff of costs of suit pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 54(d); 

and 

6.  An award to Plaintiff of any other relief that the Court deems just and proper under the 

circumstances of this case. 
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 DATED:  July 20, 2017. 
 
 
CHRISTINA M. MARTIN 
Fla. Bar No. 0100760 
Of Counsel 
Pacific Legal Foundation 
8645 N. Military Trail 
Suite 511 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 
Telephone: (561) 691-5000 
E-mail: cmm@pacificlegal.org 

 
By: /s/ Jonathan Wood   
JONATHAN WOOD 
D.C. Bar No. 1045015 
Counsel of Record 
Pacific Legal Foundation 
3033 Wilson Blvd, Suite 700 
Arlington, VA 22201 
Telephone: (202) 888-6881 
E-mail:  jw@pacificlegal.org 
 

 
Counsel for Plaintiff 

Case 1:17-cv-01444   Document 1   Filed 07/20/17   Page 10 of 31



 
 
 

EXHIBIT 1 

Case 1:17-cv-01444   Document 1   Filed 07/20/17   Page 11 of 31



American Federation of Aviculture, Inc.
P. O. Box 91717

Austin, Texas 78709
Phone: 512-585-9800

Fax: 512-858-7829

August 20, 2014

Hard copy mailed via USPS Priority Mail
PDF copy emailed to:    managementauthority@fws.gov

Director, Fish and Wildlife Service
Division of Management Authority - Branch of Permits
U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service Headquarters
MS: IA
5275 Leesburg Pike
Falls Church, VA 22041-3803

Re:  Endangered and Threatened Wildlife and Plants - Petition of American Federation of
Aviculture and Affiliates to Delist the Golden Conure (guaruba guarouba) from the List of
Endangered Species under the Endangered Species Act ( 7 U.S.C. § 136, 16 U.S.C. § 1531 et
seq.).

Dear Sirs,

The American Federation of Aviculture, on our own behalf and on behalf of our Affiliates,
hereby submits the attached petition to delist the Golden Conure (guaruba guarouba) from
the List of Endangered Species under the Endangered Species Act ( 7 U.S.C. § 136, 16 U.S.C. §
1531 et seq.).

Our position and request for this debiting is supported by the best scientific and commercial
data currently available as noted in the attached petition.

We request that the Service review the status of the Golden Conure, and promptly issue a
finding that the debiting of the Golden Conure from the List of Endangered Species under the
Endangered Species Act  is warranted.

Alternatively, if the Service deems that the debiting of the Golden Conure is not warranted,
then we request that the Golden Conure be down-listed to Threatened status, with a special
rule, as has been provided for the Salmon-Crested Cockatoo (Cacatua malaccensis), with the
same or substantially similar import and export and interstate commerce provisions that
have been provided for the Salmon-Crested Cockatoo, as more fully described at:
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American Federation of Aviculture, Inc.
August 20, 2014
Re:  Endangered and Threatened Wildlife and Plants - Petition of American Federation of Aviculture and Affiliates to Delist
the Golden Conure (guaruba guarouba) from the List of Endangered Species under the Endangered Species Act ( 7 U.S.C. §
136, 16 U.S.C. § 1531 et seq.).
2

http://www.regulations.gov/#!documentDetail;D=FWS-R9-IA-2009-0056-0017

The American Federation of Aviculture, Inc. stands ready to assist FWS in crafting reasonable
and effective solutions to problems facing endangered species.   This particular debiting (or
down-listing) is reasonable and will help the Golden Conure survive as a species.

We look forward, on behalf of the millions of citizens of the U.S. who enjoy the
companionship of their pet birds and on behalf of those who breed birds in the U.S. both for
pet purposes and for conservation purposes, to the Secretary and the Fish and Wildlife
Service recognizing and acting on our concerns.

If you have any questions, or if we can be of further assistance, please do not hesitate to
contact our Conservation Chair, Rick Jordan, or our Legislative Vice President, Genevieve
Wall, Attorney at Law.   You can reach Mr. Jordan by email at afaoffice@earthlink.net, and
you can reach Ms. Wall by mail at 24031 El Toro Road, Suite 200, Laguna Hills, CA 92653, or by
email to gwlawco@aol.com or by telephone to (949) 574-4079.

Very truly yours,

AMERICAN FEDERATION OF AVICULTURE, INC.

Nancy Speed,           Genevieve Wall, Rick Jordan,
President           Legislative Vice President Conservation Chair

cc: Roddy Gabel, Chief, Division of Management Authority

cc: The Honorable Sally Jewel, Secretary of the Interior

Footnote 1:

The American Federation of Aviculture (AFA) is a nonprofit national organization established
in 1974, whose purpose is to represent all aspects of aviculture and to educate the public
about keeping and breeding birds in captivity.   AFA supports public and private programs
that are designed to support conservation of birds in the wild.
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American Federation of Aviculture, Inc.
August 20, 2014
Re:  Endangered and Threatened Wildlife and Plants - Petition of American Federation of Aviculture and Affiliates to Delist
the Golden Conure (guaruba guarouba) from the List of Endangered Species under the Endangered Species Act ( 7 U.S.C. §
136, 16 U.S.C. § 1531 et seq.).
3

AFA represents the interests of more than 10,000 people who are our members and members
of our affiliated clubs and affiliated businesses.   AFA has a broad  membership consisting of
bird breeders, pet bird owners, veterinarians, pet/bird store owners, bird product
manufacturers, and many other people who are interested in the future of birds and
aviculture and who own and breed the many species of birds in aviculture.   There are
millions of U.S. households who keep birds.

AFA promotes and encourages the humane husbandry, care, and breeding of birds.   While
AFA speaks to and for the interests of the birds themselves, AFA also speaks to and for the
interests of the millions of U.S. households and individuals who own birds, the thousands of
businesses and professionals who provide those bird owners with goods and services, and the
birds and families who rely on the continued existence of those businesses and professionals
not only for their own livelihood, but so that they will all be able to continue to humanely
keep their birds.

Our members, affiliates, and associates in aviculture in the United States own and maintain
many hundreds of separate species of exotic birds.    AFA recognizes that there is no “one-
size-fits-all” husbandry program for the humane keeping, breeding, care, and husbandry of
the many species of  exotic birds currently kept by aviculturists worldwide.   AFA is proud to
include in its membership many experts who have long term, hands-on experience with many
species of birds, and who can, and do, provide the public and our government with current
reliable information regarding the humane keeping, breeding, care, and husbandry of exotic
birds. 

Aviculturists who maintain the many species of exotic birds now in captivity in the U.S. have
the extensive knowledge and expertise required to keep, breed, and care for birds in
captivity.   Aviculturists serve an important role in the preservation of species, and in some
cases aviculturists are the only hope for the long term survival of many of those species at
risk for extinction in their native lands.  

Case 1:17-cv-01444   Document 1   Filed 07/20/17   Page 14 of 31



Case 1:17-cv-01444   Document 1   Filed 07/20/17   Page 15 of 31



Case 1:17-cv-01444   Document 1   Filed 07/20/17   Page 16 of 31



Case 1:17-cv-01444   Document 1   Filed 07/20/17   Page 17 of 31



Case 1:17-cv-01444   Document 1   Filed 07/20/17   Page 18 of 31



Case 1:17-cv-01444   Document 1   Filed 07/20/17   Page 19 of 31



Case 1:17-cv-01444   Document 1   Filed 07/20/17   Page 20 of 31



Case 1:17-cv-01444   Document 1   Filed 07/20/17   Page 21 of 31



Case 1:17-cv-01444   Document 1   Filed 07/20/17   Page 22 of 31



Case 1:17-cv-01444   Document 1   Filed 07/20/17   Page 23 of 31



Case 1:17-cv-01444   Document 1   Filed 07/20/17   Page 24 of 31



Case 1:17-cv-01444   Document 1   Filed 07/20/17   Page 25 of 31



 
 
 

EXHIBIT 2 

Case 1:17-cv-01444   Document 1   Filed 07/20/17   Page 26 of 31



Case 1:17-cv-01444   Document 1   Filed 07/20/17   Page 27 of 31



 
 
 

EXHIBIT 3 
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